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 1             (Exhibit 1.  Exhibit 2, Exhibit 3, Exhibit 4,
  

 2   Exhibit 5, Exhibit 6, Exhibit 7, Exhibit 8, Exhibit 9,
  

 3   Exhibit 10, Exhibit 11, Exhibit 12, Exhibit 13,
  

 4   Exhibit 14, Exhibit 15, Exhibit 16, Exhibit 17,
  

 5   Exhibit 18, Exhibit 19, and Exhibit 20 were marked for
  

 6   identification.)
  

 7                         LUIGI AMOROSO,
  

 8   called as a witness herein, having been first duly sworn
  

 9   by the Certified Reporter to speak the truth and nothing
  

10   but the truth, was examined and testified as follows:
  

11
  

12                          EXAMINATION
  

13   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

14       Q.    Can you please state your full name and spell
  

01:31:37 15   your last name for the record.
  

16       A.    It is Luigi Amoroso, A-M-O-R-O-S-O.
  

17       Q.    And, Mr. Amoroso, my name is Ryan Anderson.  I
  

18   am the attorney for the receiver of Densco Investment
  

19   Corporation.  And currently there is a pending
  

01:31:51 20   receivership matter in the Maricopa County Superior Court.
  

21             Before I keep going, I am going to ask for the
  

22   other counsel in the room to make an appearance.
  

23             MR. NEMECEK:  My name is Steve Nemecek.  I am an
  

24   attorney.  I represent Jill Ford, who is the bankruptcy
  

01:32:09 25   trustee in the Chapter 7 bankruptcy case of Yomtov Scott
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 1   Menaged.
  

 2   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

 3       Q.    Mr. Amoroso, have you ever testified before in a
  

 4   deposition?
  

01:32:16  5       A.    No, not that -- to the best of my knowledge, no.
  

 6       Q.    Well, let's just go over some of the basic
  

 7   ground rules.
  

 8             We have a court reporter here today.  She is
  

 9   going to be taking down everything that we say.  And so we
  

01:32:30 10   want to try to make sure that, when you answer my
  

11   questions, you and I don't talk over each other and that
  

12   you answer the questions using phrases that will be
  

13   understandable in a transcript, for example, yes, no.
  

14   Things like huh-uhs and uh-huhs don't translate well.
  

01:32:51 15       A.    Okay.
  

16       Q.    I will try and catch them and have you fix them
  

17   if we get that.
  

18       A.    Okay.
  

19       Q.    I have some really basic ground rules.  One, if
  

01:33:01 20   you answer the question, I am going to have to assume you
  

21   understood the question.  So if there is a question you
  

22   don't understand, let me know, and I will rephrase it so
  

23   that you can answer it before you answer.
  

24             If you need a break, just let me know, and we
  

01:33:15 25   will finish whatever question is pending and we will take
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 1   a break.
  

 2             That's pretty much it, unless you have any
  

 3   questions.
  

 4       A.    No.  I understand.
  

01:33:24  5       Q.    Okay.  All right.  So just some basic
  

 6   biographical information.  What is your address?
  

 7       A.    It is 
  

 8       Q.    And how long have you lived at that address?
  

 9       A.    20, best of my knowledge, 20 years.
  

01:33:41 10       Q.    And what is the best phone number to reach you
  

11   at?
  

12       A.    
  

13       Q.    Okay.  You also told us that you never
  

14   testified, at least to your knowledge, before.  Have you
  

01:33:59 15   ever been involved in a lawsuit?  Have you ever been party
  

16   to a lawsuit before?
  

17       A.    No.
  

18       Q.    What do you do for a living?
  

19       A.    I am an independent contractor.
  

01:34:11 20       Q.    That's kind of broad.  What is the service you
  

21   provide?
  

22       A.    I bid for people downtown on trustee sales.  And
  

23   if I purchase a home for them, I put up the $10,000 bid
  

24   check.  And I get a receipt with the, with the vesting,
  

01:34:34 25   the proper vesting of the property.  And I bring the
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 1   receipt to the client.  And the client reimburses me my
  

 2   $10,000 bid check, as I give them the receipt.
  

 3       Q.    And this, what is the best way to describe the
  

 4   job that you do, the service that you provide?
  

01:34:51  5       A.    I am a bidder.
  

 6       Q.    You are a bidder, okay.
  

 7       A.    In simple terms, a bidder.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  And how -- is that all that you do in
  

 9   terms of as an employment?
  

01:35:02 10       A.    That's all I do.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  And how, just -- and we are going to get
  

12   just sort of general questions out of the way.  How many
  

13   different clients, just generally, do you serve as a
  

14   bidder for?
  

01:35:12 15       A.    I have about 10 to 15 clients.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  And you are here because at some point in
  

17   the past you have worked for a man named Yomtov Scott
  

18   Menaged, is that correct?
  

19       A.    That's correct.
  

01:35:29 20       Q.    Were you ever an employee of Mr. Menaged?
  

21       A.    I was an independent contractor with him.
  

22       Q.    Okay.
  

23       A.    For example, how that worked was that, when I
  

24   purchased homes for my other clients, they pay me per
  

01:35:46 25   home.  With Mr. Menaged, I would get paid a weekly salary,
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 1   but I can purchase from zero to a thousand homes a week.
  

 2   It didn't matter.
  

 3       Q.    When you were under this arrangement with
  

 4   Mr. Menaged, could you purchase homes for other clients of
  

01:36:05  5   yours?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.  And how many of your clients do you have
  

 8   the weekly payment arrangement with?  Was he the only one
  

 9   you had that arrangement with?
  

01:36:19 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    So why did you and Mr. Menaged agree upon that
  

12   type of arrangement rather than just one property being
  

13   paid on?
  

14       A.    Okay.  We have to go back where I started.
  

01:36:35 15       Q.    Sure.
  

16       A.    I started working with EZ Homes.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  And what is EZ Homes?
  

18       A.    EZ Homes, Inc. is a facility, they buy houses
  

19   and then they wholesale them on their website.
  

01:36:48 20       Q.    Okay.  And who are the owners or in charge?
  

21       A.    The owner is Eric Weinbrenner at the time.
  

22       Q.    Okay.
  

23       A.    And I was working with him.  And this is about
  

24   2003 or 2004.  Mr. Menaged joined the EZ Home team in 2000
  

01:37:10 25   either '4 or '5.  They stayed together for, I believe, to
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 1   the best of my knowledge, for maybe three or four, maybe
  

 2   three or four years and they split up.  And I had the same
  

 3   term with EZ Homes.  I bidded for him and it was just a
  

 4   weekly pay.  I could have bought one house, three houses,
  

01:37:38  5   five houses.  So I went with the same terms with
  

 6   Mr. Menaged.  And I went with Mr. Menaged when he split
  

 7   off with EZ Homes.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  So when Mr. Menaged started his own sort
  

 9   of property purchasing entities, you continued to do work
  

01:37:52 10   for Mr. Menaged's entities under the same financial
  

11   arrangement as you had with EZ Homes?
  

12       A.    That's correct.
  

13       Q.    Okay.  Are you aware of the entity Arizona Home
  

14   Foreclosure?
  

01:38:10 15       A.    Yes.
  

16       Q.    And are you aware of an entity called
  

17   EZ Investments?
  

18       A.    That's Scott's business, I think.
  

19   EZ Investments was it?  Yes, I believe he went under
  

01:38:20 20   EZ Investments, LLC.
  

21       Q.    Okay.  Are there any other businesses that you
  

22   are aware of that Scott may have used to buy properties at
  

23   foreclosure sales?
  

24       A.    He used another LLC, but I forgot the name of
  

01:38:36 25   it.  It was -- I forgot the name of it.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  That's fine.
  

 2             Did you deem that you were working for Scott
  

 3   directly?  Was he your client, or were these corporations
  

 4   your clients?
  

01:38:50  5       A.    He was a client.
  

 6       Q.    He, being Scott, was the client?
  

 7       A.    Yes.  And he was also, to begin with, was a
  

 8   friend.
  

 9       Q.    We will get into that a little.  I am just
  

01:39:01 10   trying to identify who you felt you were sort working for.
  

11   You were working for Scott?
  

12       A.    Yes.  He was like my main client, so I was
  

13   basically working for him.
  

14       Q.    You say your main client.  There came -- when he
  

01:39:14 15   started this business was he your largest client?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  And largest in terms of volume of houses
  

18   that you were bidding on?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

01:39:21 20       Q.    Okay.  So how do you, if you had two of your
  

21   clients that want to bid on the same property, how do you
  

22   manage that as the bidder?
  

23       A.    I would never know the client's number, how much
  

24   Scott wanted to go on a property.  And if my client was on
  

01:39:39 25   it, for example, Scott would come first.  So if Scott went
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 1   off the properties, in other words, if Scott said I am
  

 2   done, then I will call my other client to see if he was
  

 3   still in as the bidding was continuing.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  So --
  

01:39:56  5       A.    He had first priority.
  

 6       Q.    In laymen's terms, he had a right of first
  

 7   refusal --
  

 8       A.    Yes.
  

 9       Q.    -- essentially on a property?
  

10       A.    Yes, absolutely.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  We have to be a little careful.  We are
  

12   starting to talk over each other --
  

13       A.    I'm sorry.
  

14       Q.    -- because it is very easy to do.  Let's make
  

01:40:08 15   sure I finish my question before you answer.
  

16             So just to clear up the testimony, Scott was,
  

17   had the right to bid on properties first, and if he
  

18   stopped bidding, you could then go to your other clients
  

19   potentially, is that right?
  

01:40:28 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    Okay.  Was Scott aware that that was the
  

22   arrangement, that --
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    -- he was right of first refusal?
  

01:40:37 25       A.    I am sorry.  Yes, he knew, yes.
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 1       Q.    Is that part of the reason that you agreed to
  

 2   this financial arrangement of a thousand dollars a week?
  

 3       A.    Never talked to him about that really.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  If -- in a general sense, when you are
  

01:40:56  5   using -- or bidding for other clients, how much do they
  

 6   pay you per property when you bid?
  

 7       A.    $500.
  

 8       Q.    Is that the sort of flat rate that's in the
  

 9   industry?
  

01:41:05 10       A.    Yeah.  Well, it is not -- it is my flat rate.
  

11   Because how I work is that I don't do title work, title
  

12   search; the client does it.  And people that do title
  

13   search, title work, they charge like 2,000 or 1500 or
  

14   3,000.  It depends.  So the clients I have, they do their
  

01:41:24 15   own title search to make sure they are bidding on a
  

16   property, first deed of trust.  So that's why I charge
  

17   $500.
  

18       Q.    And can you describe how many -- like your
  

19   experience in being a bidder, how long you have been doing
  

01:41:40 20   this.
  

21       A.    I have been doing this since 2003, I believe,
  

22   yes.
  

23       Q.    And can you just give me a rough estimate how
  

24   many auctions you have attended.  I mean thousands, right?
  

01:41:49 25       A.    Oh, God, yes.



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

Luigi Amoroso - December 14, 2016 14

  

 1       Q.    Thousands of auctions, is that right?
  

 2       A.    Yes, yes.
  

 3       Q.    And then how many properties do you think you
  

 4   have been successful bidder on?
  

01:41:58  5       A.    Since the beginning?
  

 6       Q.    Since the beginning.
  

 7       A.    Thousands.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  And so from that many auctions and that
  

 9   many successful bids, you certainly have a good working
  

01:42:12 10   understanding of the process by which a property can be
  

11   purchased at a foreclosure sale, right?
  

12       A.    Absolutely.
  

13       Q.    So, fair to say that you know in intimate detail
  

14   how one can purchase a property at a foreclosure sale, is
  

01:42:28 15   that right?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  You talked a little bit about, earlier,
  

18   about some of your clients give you a bidder's check.
  

19   What is a bidder check?
  

01:42:38 20       A.    Okay.  A bidder's check is a cashier's check
  

21   made out to me, so I can reuse that check the next
  

22   following day to bid on other houses.  When you bid on a
  

23   house and you are successful bidder, you need to take a
  

24   thousand dollar cashier's check as a deposit, which the
  

01:42:56 25   property then in full has to be paid the following day
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 1   within 24 hours.
  

 2       Q.    So walk me through the specifics of the bidder
  

 3   check.  So you may have on your possession at some times a
  

 4   cashier's check in the amount of $10,000 made out to you,
  

01:43:11  5   is that right?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7       Q.    Do those -- when you are successful bidder on a
  

 8   property for one of those clients who has given you a
  

 9   bidder check, do you remit that physical check to the
  

01:43:21 10   trustee as evidence of the $10,000?
  

11       A.    You have to sign it over, yes.
  

12       Q.    So you basically flip the check over and sign it
  

13   over to the trustee, is that right?
  

14       A.    What the trustee does, they stamp it.  And
  

01:43:33 15   they -- yes, you physically have to sign it over to them.
  

16       Q.    So then you have -- your client is the
  

17   successful bidder.  You have left with the trustee now
  

18   this $10,000 deposit that's been signed over.  Then what
  

19   do you have to do?
  

01:43:51 20       A.    Then my client will text me or call me on how
  

21   they want the property vested.
  

22       Q.    What, when you say vested, what do you mean?
  

23       A.    Ownership of the property, the vesting of the
  

24   property.  For example, X owns a house, so I have to put
  

01:44:08 25   their name, address where they want the mail of the, of
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 1   the deed.  So it is actually the ownership of the deed.
  

 2       Q.    Okay.
  

 3       A.    They need to text me the ownership of the deed.
  

 4       Q.    So you have to communicate with your clients to
  

01:44:22  5   find out how they want to take the title of the property,
  

 6   is that right?
  

 7       A.    Absolutely.
  

 8       Q.    And that information is something that you need
  

 9   to then communicate to the trustee who just facilitated
  

01:44:30 10   the sale, is that right?
  

11       A.    That's right.
  

12       Q.    The reason you want to communicate that
  

13   information to the trustee, because they are essentially
  

14   going to issue a deed and you want to make sure that
  

01:44:38 15   whoever is taking title, the deed matches whoever is going
  

16   to own the property, is that right?
  

17       A.    Yes.
  

18       Q.    Okay.  Now, when you are dealing with -- well,
  

19   first of all, how many houses do you think you
  

01:44:54 20   successfully bid on for Mr. Menaged?
  

21       A.    Oh, gosh.
  

22       Q.    From the beginning?
  

23       A.    Hundreds.
  

24       Q.    And can you walk me through how a sale would
  

01:45:07 25   work for Mr. Menaged?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    Okay.
  

 3       A.    For example, the sale would go up for sale up at
  

 4   the auction.  I would call him up, because I would never
  

01:45:16  5   bid without his consent.  He is on the phone with me and
  

 6   he will tell me next hundred.  I tell him it is at a
  

 7   hundred thousand; next hundred, just keep on going.
  

 8             If you are the successful bidder of the
  

 9   property, we had -- he had that EZ, you said EZ
  

01:45:33 10   Investments, LLC.
  

11       Q.    Uh-huh.
  

12       A.    And he would invest everything into that LLC.
  

13   And I would put that in.  The auctioneer would then write
  

14   me a receipt for the $10,000 deposit and the receipt of
  

01:45:49 15   the purchase of the home.  And I would bring it to
  

16   Mr. Menaged's office, hand it over to his secretary.  And
  

17   his secretary would issue me a $10,000 bid check if it was
  

18   one house; two houses, two 10,000s, 20,000; or three
  

19   houses would be 30,000.  And they would give me a regular
  

01:46:07 20   business check from a checkbook.  And I would go -- they
  

21   were banking with Chase.  I would go to Chase and have
  

22   those checks converted into one, two, or three cashier's
  

23   checks.
  

24       Q.    Just so I understand the process, you have been
  

01:46:22 25   on the phone with Mr. Menaged and you successfully have
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 1   bought three houses at one foreclosure sale.  So can you
  

 2   understand --
  

 3       A.    You can only buy one at a time.
  

 4       Q.    Yeah, sure.  You buy one at a time, but you have
  

01:46:33  5   got 50 houses for sale and he is the successful bidder on
  

 6   three of them.
  

 7       A.    Yes.
  

 8       Q.    Do you immediately give $30,000 in $10,000
  

 9   increments to the trustee on the spot?
  

01:46:44 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    And how do you have those funds available to
  

12   you?
  

13       A.    I carry checks with me.
  

14       Q.    So you would already have, before the sale,
  

01:46:53 15   checks in your pocket that are essentially cashier's
  

16   checks made out to you from banks that your clients have
  

17   money in, right?
  

18       A.    No.
  

19       Q.    No?
  

01:47:05 20       A.    They are my personal checks.
  

21       Q.    They are your checks?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    So you basically are advancing money on behalf
  

24   of your clients?
  

01:47:10 25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    So this is your money that's being put down?
  

 2       A.    Yes.
  

 3       Q.    And so were there times when Scott bought
  

 4   multiple properties at one auction day?
  

01:47:22  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  I mean, what was the most, in your
  

 7   recollection, he ever bought in one day?
  

 8       A.    Oh.
  

 9       Q.    Could he buy 10, 12 in one day?
  

01:47:34 10       A.    Back in the day, yeah.  I mean the last four
  

11   years, no.
  

12       Q.    Okay.  But back in the day?
  

13       A.    Oh, yeah, because there was, at one point there
  

14   was like 5-, 600 houses going to sale a day.
  

01:47:47 15       Q.    Right.
  

16       A.    So, yes, we could have been 10, 12 in one day,
  

17   absolutely.
  

18       Q.    So you would have cashier's checks of 120,000
  

19   sometimes?
  

01:47:56 20       A.    Well, he will -- at that time, when he was busy,
  

21   they would issue me some checks.  Some cashier's checks I
  

22   would have.  And then if we used up his, then we would use
  

23   mine.
  

24       Q.    Okay.
  

01:48:07 25       A.    Towards the latter years, towards the end, I
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 1   only used by mine because we weren't doing that much,
  

 2   maybe one or two, maybe four a week, that's all.
  

 3       Q.    When you talk about when it was really active,
  

 4   is that between 2007 and 2009?
  

01:48:22  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  And then when you say it slowed down, you
  

 7   are probably talking about 2010 to sort of present?
  

 8       A.    Yeah, I think so.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.  And so it is possible that you would be
  

01:48:39 10   provided with a cashier's check from Mr. Menaged's
  

11   companies to enable you to make these down payments on
  

12   successful bidding, right?
  

13       A.    At the very beginning, yes.
  

14       Q.    Okay.  And then as the number, the volume of
  

01:48:53 15   purchases was starting to dwindle, you would essentially
  

16   advance this money --
  

17       A.    Yes.
  

18       Q.    -- so that he could be the successful bidder?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

01:49:03 20       Q.    All right.
  

21       A.    And I do that with all my clients.
  

22       Q.    So let's just walk through one where you have
  

23   advanced now the $10,000 and given, signed over a
  

24   cashier's check to the trustee.  You talked earlier that
  

01:49:15 25   you would then drive to Mr. Menaged's office, you say.
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 1   Where generally would you drive to?
  

 2       A.    At first he has offices on Central.  I believe
  

 3   it was 3030 North Central.  It was a Bank of America
  

 4   building, I believe.
  

01:49:35  5       Q.    Okay.
  

 6       A.    And --
  

 7       Q.    Is it like an office building?
  

 8       A.    Yeah, yeah.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.
  

01:49:42 10       A.    And then he decided, when he opened his
  

11   furniture store, second furniture store, he started an
  

12   office out of his furniture store.
  

13       Q.    And do you remember what location that was on?
  

14       A.    That was the location at 73rd Ave. and Bell.
  

01:49:59 15   And then he opened up another, like a car dealership,
  

16   which was at 20th Street, I believe, I believe, and Bell.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  And so --
  

18       A.    So wherever he would office, I would know and I
  

19   would go to the office.
  

01:50:20 20       Q.    And you would go to those offices with what?
  

21       A.    The receipt that I purchased the home.
  

22       Q.    All right.
  

23       A.    And I would hand over the receipt to the
  

24   secretary.
  

01:50:32 25       Q.    Just stop here.
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 1       A.    Okay.
  

 2       Q.    So we have the receipt.  Now, the receipt
  

 3   evidences that you have given a $10,000 deposit, is that
  

 4   right?
  

01:50:38  5       A.    Absolutely.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  And, but the receipt doesn't evidence
  

 7   that you have paid the full amount for this property yet,
  

 8   right?  This is just the first receipt saying we have got
  

 9   your initial down payment, right?
  

01:50:49 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  And that receipt would be issued by the
  

12   trustee who had conducted the auction, is that right?
  

13       A.    Yes.
  

14       Q.    Would you sign this receipt or do anything with
  

01:50:57 15   it?
  

16       A.    Yes, I would.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  And you would then deliver this receipt
  

18   to Mr. Menaged's offices to show him that you have put the
  

19   $10,000 down to buy a house at 123 Main Street, right?
  

01:51:12 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    You said you would give it to his secretary?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    And did he have the same secretary the whole
  

24   time of your business relationship with him?
  

01:51:20 25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And who was that secretary?
  

 2       A.    Veronica, and I don't know how to pronounce her
  

 3   last name.
  

 4       Q.    Veronica Gutierrez Castro?
  

01:51:29  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    How would you describe her?  Would you describe
  

 7   her, is she a young woman?  An older woman?
  

 8       A.    A woman in her, today, in her 40s.
  

 9       Q.    And you have known her since, I assume, as early
  

01:51:44 10   as 2004, when Mr. Menaged --
  

11       A.    I know her when Mr. Menaged split with EZ Homes
  

12   and he opened up his offices on 3030 North Central.  He
  

13   hired her then.
  

14       Q.    So you have known Ms. Castro as Mr. Menaged's
  

01:52:04 15   secretary since as early as 2005?
  

16       A.    Probably.  I am not great with dates, but yes,
  

17   2005 or '6 it would be, but I believe '5.
  

18       Q.    But it has been a long time?
  

19       A.    It has been awhile.
  

01:52:17 20       Q.    And you use the term secretary.  Do you know if
  

21   she has any other professional credentials?  Like is she a
  

22   real estate agent or is she a notary public?  Do you know
  

23   anything about her?
  

24       A.    Yes.  I believe she is a Realtor.
  

01:52:31 25       Q.    Okay.
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 1       A.    Can I explain?
  

 2       Q.    Sure.
  

 3       A.    Because when Mr. Menaged would buy homes, he
  

 4   would fix them up, rehab them, and she would list them.
  

01:52:41  5       Q.    She would list them for sale?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.  And how do you know that?
  

 8       A.    Well, I know from hearing her talk.
  

 9       Q.    So she would tell you that, some of the things
  

01:52:53 10   she does?
  

11       A.    She was listing the houses, yes.
  

12       Q.    Okay.  And when you deliver this initial receipt
  

13   to Ms. Castro, what would she do with it?
  

14       A.    She would take the receipt, and I guess she --
  

01:53:10 15   well, she would issue me the check, the $10,000 check.
  

16   And that was my concern, was just getting my 10,000, go to
  

17   the bank and turn it over into a cashier's check, because
  

18   she would give me a business check.
  

19       Q.    Okay.  So the transaction with Ms. Castro is
  

01:53:26 20   that you give her the receipt that shows you have put the
  

21   $10,000 down as an initial deposit; she then takes the
  

22   receipt from you and issues you a business check to repay
  

23   you the $10,000?
  

24       A.    Yes.
  

01:53:40 25       Q.    Okay.  At that point are you done with that
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 1   property?
  

 2       A.    Yes, I am done.
  

 3       Q.    Okay.  So you do not make any effort to deliver
  

 4   the remaining money to the trustee --
  

01:53:52  5       A.    No.
  

 6       Q.    -- is that right?
  

 7             You don't make any effort to ensure that the
  

 8   sale is completed within the 24-hour period, do you?
  

 9       A.    No.
  

01:54:00 10       Q.    Okay.  So for you, once you get a payment to
  

11   reimburse you for the money you have advanced, you are
  

12   done?
  

13       A.    Yes.
  

14       Q.    Okay.  And so on an average day when you are
  

01:54:18 15   buying and selling, or buying houses for Mr. Menaged, or
  

16   bidding on houses, are you sort of done by 1:00 or 2:00 in
  

17   the afternoon with respect to Mr. Menaged's properties?
  

18       A.    I didn't buy houses every day, but yes, I will
  

19   be done 1:00, yeah.
  

01:54:36 20       Q.    So basically you go to the auction in the
  

21   morning, you participate in the bidding, you put the money
  

22   down for the initial deposits, go to his office, get
  

23   replacement checks, and you go then to a bank, cash those
  

24   checks and get new ones for tomorrow, and you are done?
  

01:54:52 25       A.    I go home.
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 1       Q.    And you are just going to get ready for the next
  

 2   day or next bidding, is that right?
  

 3       A.    Uh-huh.
  

 4       Q.    Is that right?
  

01:54:59  5       A.    Yes, yes.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  So how do you know which properties
  

 7   Mr. Menaged wants to bid on at the next auction?  How is
  

 8   that communicated to you?
  

 9       A.    Okay.  They would e-mail me the next day buys, a
  

01:55:15 10   list.  Because the list would be generated.  Mr. Menaged
  

11   had someone that would generate the lists for him, I say
  

12   generate the list for sales, that would be going for the
  

13   following day.
  

14             He would pick the runs he liked.  And then he
  

01:55:31 15   would send me a list, send the drivers a list, because he
  

16   had drivers.  People had to drive the properties to make
  

17   sure they are not burned or make sure the condition of the
  

18   property.  And I would know the next -- then I would copy
  

19   those particular properties that he is interested for the
  

01:55:47 20   following day and go the next day and bid.
  

21       Q.    Do you know who these drivers were, their
  

22   identities?
  

23       A.    Yes, I know one of them.  His name was -- what
  

24   was his name -- Kelly.  What was his first name?  I have
  

01:56:09 25   his last name.
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 1       Q.    Kelly is his last name?
  

 2       A.    Yeah, I think so.  I have got a blank right now.
  

 3   But it is one of his best friends.  And I know him a long
  

 4   time.  So I feel ashamed.
  

01:56:20  5       Q.    That's okay.  Sometimes --
  

 6       A.    I feel ashamed.
  

 7       Q.    Sometimes you forget people's names.  It will
  

 8   come to you at some point.  Don't worry.
  

 9             Other than Mr. Kelly, were there any other
  

01:56:30 10   drivers that you are aware of?
  

11       A.    He had another driver.  And I don't know his
  

12   name really well.  I wasn't, you know, close to him at
  

13   all.  He was Kelly's cousin, I believe.
  

14       Q.    Okay.  So do you understand -- what was your
  

01:56:45 15   understanding of the business purpose of the driver?
  

16       A.    Oh, that he would drive the property and give a
  

17   report to Scott if there was an air condition -- because
  

18   the people would rob air conditioners.  So Scott would
  

19   have to kind of assess how much damage and how much work
  

01:57:03 20   does the property need so he can figure out, okay, I need
  

21   to put X amount of money to make this house in good
  

22   condition and I can sell for X amount of money.  So he
  

23   needed to know that information.
  

24       Q.    Basically fair to say Mr. Menaged needed to know
  

01:57:19 25   what the condition of the property was before he made his
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 1   bids so that he could determine if the property needed so
  

 2   much work that it wasn't worthwhile making a bid on?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  Was all of this happening within the
  

01:57:38  5   24-hour period before the auction or is this happening
  

 6   weeks before?
  

 7       A.    No.  This happens -- the driver would go out
  

 8   early in the morning.  So this would happen basically at
  

 9   the moment.
  

01:57:49 10       Q.    Okay.  So it is sort of a real-time activity?
  

11       A.    Yes.  Because I would call him up and say, okay,
  

12   this property is going to sale.  He goes don't bid, I
  

13   don't have a report on it, just don't bid, bye.  I will
  

14   call you on the next one.
  

01:58:02 15       Q.    Okay.  So you would be standing downtown and
  

16   these are, the auctions were all at the courthouse
  

17   downtown, right?
  

18       A.    Well, some of them down at the trustee's
  

19   offices.
  

01:58:12 20       Q.    But the majority of them --
  

21       A.    Downtown.
  

22       Q.    -- downtown outside the courthouse.  And you
  

23   would be there and you would be essentially participating
  

24   and listening to every single auction that was going to
  

01:58:23 25   happen that day?
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 1             Is that a yes?
  

 2       A.    Yes.
  

 3       Q.    And then when a property came up that
  

 4   Mr. Menaged identified he wanted to bid on, you would have
  

01:58:29  5   to get him on the phone, is that right?
  

 6       A.    That's correct.
  

 7       Q.    So you call him up and say 123 Main is about to
  

 8   come up for bid, what do you want to bid, right?
  

 9       A.    Yes.
  

01:58:37 10       Q.    And then you would get some information that
  

11   Scott has made a decision to make a bid on that property,
  

12   right?
  

13       A.    No.  He wouldn't tell me anything about the
  

14   property, a report.  It wasn't my business to know.  I
  

01:58:52 15   just bid.  He said, okay, let's bid it.  So I didn't know
  

16   at that moment.  The only time I knew anything was if they
  

17   didn't drive the property he didn't.
  

18       Q.    So if the driver hadn't looked at it and given
  

19   the report, you were told I am not going to bid on it, and
  

01:59:07 20   you would hang up and wait for the next one, is that
  

21   right?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    Okay.  You talked about knowing Scott or being
  

24   introduced to him when he was with a company called EZ
  

01:59:24 25   Homes, Inc., is that right?
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 1       A.    Let me clarify that.
  

 2       Q.    Sure.
  

 3       A.    I was working for EZ Homes, Inc. in 2003 or
  

 4   2004.  I think he came on board about 2003 or '4.  I'm not
  

01:59:38  5   sure.  But I was working for EZ Inc. before he came in.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  Do you still work for EZ Homes, Inc.?
  

 7       A.    No, no.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.
  

 9       A.    So that's when we became friends with Scott.
  

01:59:51 10       Q.    Okay.  And do you know if he was ever an owner
  

11   of EZ Homes, Inc.?
  

12       A.    He came in, and he was very aggressive.  And the
  

13   owner liked him, and he gave him like a percentage.  But
  

14   he wasn't an owner on paper, owner in the sense that they
  

02:00:10 15   created a corporation.  But they worked together.  He was
  

16   like a high-paid employee.  He was like, I think, 30 or
  

17   40 percent.
  

18       Q.    How do you know he got a percentage of the
  

19   business?
  

02:00:21 20       A.    The talk, people talked that time in the office
  

21   and I heard.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  You heard that he was part owner?
  

23       A.    Yeah, he was.  Like he acted like owner, too.
  

24   It got to that point that he acted like owner.
  

02:00:33 25       Q.    Okay.  Do you know if he still owns a part of EZ
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 1   Homes, Inc.?
  

 2       A.    No.
  

 3             MR. NEMECEK:  Can I just clarify?  Are you
  

 4   testifying that he doesn't own or you don't know whether
  

02:00:44  5   he owns?
  

 6             THE WITNESS:  No, he doesn't own EZ Homes.
  

 7             MR. NEMECEK:  Thank you.
  

 8             THE WITNESS:  He never did.  He is just the
  

 9   owner of EZ Homes gave him like a percentage at that point
  

02:00:53 10   because they were very aggressive and buying a lot.
  

11             MR. NEMECEK:  Thank you.
  

12   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

13       Q.    So in your business relationship with
  

14   Mr. Menaged, do you have an understanding of his employees
  

02:01:06 15   and people that worked for him that were in this area of
  

16   buying and selling real property?
  

17       A.    I don't understand the question.
  

18       Q.    Do you know who worked for Scott that helped in
  

19   this business model of buying real estate?
  

02:01:20 20       A.    Well, I was the bidder.
  

21       Q.    You were the bidder, okay.  Who else?
  

22       A.    He had drivers.
  

23       Q.    Okay.
  

24       A.    He had one or two depending on the day.  He had
  

02:01:30 25   the secretary, Veronica.  And we had another bidder called



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

Luigi Amoroso - December 14, 2016 32

  

 1   Julia Thomas.
  

 2       Q.    And how do you know Ms. Thomas?
  

 3       A.    From the auctions.
  

 4       Q.    And why would he need two bidders?
  

02:01:47  5       A.    Because I would handle the courthouse downtown
  

 6   and she would handle all like Bosco, all the trustee
  

 7   offices.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  Do you know what her arrangement,
  

 9   financial arrangement was with Mr. Menaged?
  

02:02:04 10       A.    Not really.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  How were you paid?  You talked about
  

12   getting a thousand dollars a week.  Well, how do you get
  

13   that money?
  

14       A.    Oh, once a week, if we would buy anything, I
  

02:02:17 15   mean didn't matter, but once a week I would go and pick up
  

16   my check.
  

17       Q.    And the check would be in the amount of a
  

18   thousand dollars?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

02:02:27 20       Q.    Did you ever get checks more than a thousand
  

21   dollars?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    And what kind of checks were those?
  

24       A.    I did some loans to Mr. Menaged, property loans.
  

02:02:37 25   And he would give me on -- I did on three properties, I
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 1   believe.  One property was 300,000, so it would be like
  

 2   $3,000 a week at 12 percent.  Because people charged at
  

 3   that time 18 percent and 16 percent.  So I -- he asked me,
  

 4   Lou, you know, could you lend me on properties and, you
  

02:02:56  5   know, do a better percentage.  And I gave him 12 percent.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  So in addition to being sort of his
  

 7   bidder, there were times he needed to borrow money from
  

 8   you?
  

 9       A.    On certain homes that he kept.
  

02:03:10 10       Q.    Okay.  So there is a property that he would own
  

11   and he then needed to borrow money from you?
  

12       A.    He -- well, what he was doing is that he already
  

13   owned the property.  And he already had a hard money
  

14   lender on it for 18 or 16 percent.  And then he asked me
  

02:03:26 15   so I would pay off the lender, the other lender.
  

16   Everything was done through title.
  

17       Q.    Sure.
  

18       A.    And he would pay me.
  

19       Q.    Okay.  So you basically would refinance
  

02:03:38 20   properties that he already owned?
  

21       A.    Yeah, only three of them.
  

22       Q.    Three times?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    Okay.  When you did a refinance for him, did he
  

02:03:49 25   give you any financial information about his ability to



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

Luigi Amoroso - December 14, 2016 34

  

 1   repay you?
  

 2       A.    No, no.
  

 3       Q.    Okay.  So how would you determine that it was a
  

 4   good loan to make?
  

02:03:59  5       A.    I determined because, for example, on one of
  

 6   them was 300,000.  And the property was worth, I believe,
  

 7   420.  So I knew I was ahead of the game that way.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  And with respect to these three ones,
  

 9   properties that you lent Mr. Menaged money on, what
  

02:04:20 10   happened on all three loans?
  

11       A.    One of them he sold the property and paid me
  

12   off.  The other one he, I believe he also maybe sold the
  

13   property and paid me off.  And the third one he -- I
  

14   wanted, I demanded my money back.  I asked him, you know
  

02:04:39 15   what, I wanted to get out.  And he gave me -- he had AFG,
  

16   Active Finance Group, I believe it was, that paid me off.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  And when did these three transactions
  

18   happen, what years, do you know?
  

19       A.    I have the files with me.
  

02:04:54 20       Q.    Oh, okay.  Can you pull them out and take a
  

21   look?
  

22       A.    Yes, I will take a look and see.  I had to
  

23   figure it out.
  

24             See, I made one check out to Magnus Title,
  

02:05:20 25   300,000.  And this was done October 14, 2014.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  Where did you get the money to lend to
  

 2   him?
  

 3       A.    Well, I have, you know, me and my wife, we saved
  

 4   money.
  

02:05:39  5       Q.    It is from your personal fund?
  

 6       A.    Yes, yes.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.
  

 8       A.    And another one, this was for, this was, I
  

 9   think, the last one.  I don't know, maybe not.  No, this
  

02:05:54 10   wasn't the last one.  This was one that I paid off, paid,
  

11   and had them, right, pay Densco for loan on 1330 East
  

12   Friess Drive.
  

13       Q.    Actually, paying Densco loan on 10030 East
  

14   Friess Drive, and that's in February of 2013?
  

02:06:10 15       A.    Yeah.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  So this was a -- Densco was the lender on
  

17   this one?
  

18       A.    And I paid him off.
  

19       Q.    You mean you paid off Densco?
  

02:06:20 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    And then you became the hard money lender at
  

22   this point?
  

23       A.    At that time, yes.
  

24       Q.    Do you know what was the disposition of this
  

02:06:27 25   house?  Did that essentially get sold?
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 1       A.    This house his father-in-law lived in.
  

 2       Q.    Okay, father-in-law's.  What is the
  

 3   father-in-law's name, do you know?
  

 4       A.    Sal, all I know, the first name Sal.  I don't
  

02:06:41  5   know the last name.
  

 6       Q.    So this is his wife's father?
  

 7       A.    Yes.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  Are you still the lender on this
  

 9   property?
  

02:06:47 10       A.    No.  I got out of all of them.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  So how did you get out of this one, do
  

12   you have a recollection?
  

13       A.    Let's see.  This one was 2013.  Let's see.
  

14   Yeah, paid off 3/14.
  

02:07:19 15       Q.    So this is --
  

16       A.    This is from Pioneer.  He went through -- I
  

17   don't know.  He sold it or whatever.  He paid me off
  

18   through Pioneer.
  

19       Q.    So essentially a year later, February 25,
  

02:07:54 20   2014 --
  

21       A.    Yeah.  They don't last long.
  

22       Q.    -- he paid off your loan?
  

23       A.    Yeah.  Usually when you do hard money, they
  

24   usually don't last long.  They usually last a year, six
  

02:08:05 25   months.
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 1       Q.    All right.  Is there a third one you got there?
  

 2       A.    The third one is --
  

 3       Q.    All these are in these neat folders called Buy.
  

 4   Are these your folders or somebody else's?
  

02:08:18  5       A.    This is a company I work for, EZ -- Buy AZ
  

 6   Foreclosures.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.
  

 8       A.    EZ Homes.
  

 9       Q.    EZ Homes?
  

02:08:28 10       A.    They are friends of mine.  And I lent also to EZ
  

11   Homes because they are friends of mine.
  

12       Q.    Okay.
  

13       A.    Let me find the last one.  The last one was his
  

14   personal residence.
  

02:08:38 15       Q.    Okay.
  

16       A.    And last one was this one here.  I believe -- I
  

17   don't have that much documents on this because this was
  

18   awhile back, I believe 2010.  And that was the last one I
  

19   did.
  

02:08:53 20       Q.    No.  This has to be the first one you did.
  

21       A.    The first one, excuse me.
  

22       Q.    So this is on address 9877 East Pine Valley Road
  

23   in Scottsdale.
  

24       A.    That was his primary residence.
  

02:09:06 25       Q.    That was his?
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 1       A.    Yeah.
  

 2       Q.    And you lent him $200,000?
  

 3       A.    Uh-huh.
  

 4       Q.    Do you recall how this was resolved?
  

02:09:14  5       A.    He sold that.
  

 6       Q.    And when he sold it he paid you off?
  

 7       A.    Yes.
  

 8       Q.    And that has a recording number of 12-30-2010.
  

 9   Actually, the recording number is 2010-1138872.
  

02:09:34 10       A.    I believe he was still working with EZ Homes
  

11   back then.
  

12       Q.    Back in 2010?
  

13       A.    Uh-huh, I believe.
  

14       Q.    Okay.  What do you know about Densco?
  

02:09:48 15       A.    I heard of Denny, was a great guy.  I didn't
  

16   know him.  I met him only two times.  It was just hello
  

17   and good-bye.  One time was at a Christmas party.  The
  

18   second time a friend of mine invited me to his luncheons
  

19   they have once a month called MOM, Meeting of the Minds.
  

02:10:12 20   It was a hello and good-bye.  I didn't know him.
  

21       Q.    When I asked you about Densco, you immediately
  

22   talked about Denny.  You mean Denny Chittick?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    You understand that Densco Investment
  

02:10:22 25   Corporation is the business that Mr. Chittick owned and
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 1   operated, right?
  

 2       A.    Yes.
  

 3       Q.    Okay.  And did you know anything about Densco as
  

 4   a business?
  

02:10:29  5       A.    Yes.  I already -- his name is known throughout
  

 6   the industry.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.  And what was it?  A hard money lender
  

 8   from your understanding?
  

 9       A.    Yes, hard money lender.
  

02:10:40 10       Q.    There has been some testimony in this case that
  

11   Densco's business practices were different than the other
  

12   hard money lenders.  Do you know anything about the
  

13   difference between Densco's business practices versus
  

14   other hard money lenders' business practices?
  

02:11:00 15       A.    No.
  

16       Q.    So other than sort of knowing that Mr. Chittick
  

17   ran Densco and that you may have interacted with him
  

18   briefly twice, is there anything else you sort of new or
  

19   understood about Densco?
  

02:11:12 20       A.    The only thing I knew, he was a nice man
  

21   himself.  That's all I knew.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  All right.  Are you aware that the
  

23   receiver has determined that there are a number of
  

24   receipts that appear to be fraudulent with your name on
  

02:11:32 25   them that appear -- that may have been provided to Densco
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 1   to make it appear certain properties were purchased from
  

 2   foreclosure sales that never actually happened?  Are you
  

 3   familiar with what we have alleged?
  

 4       A.    I heard about that, yes.
  

02:11:47  5       Q.    Okay.  How did you hear about that?
  

 6       A.    Well, it is all over the place.
  

 7       Q.    Well, what does that mean, it is all over the
  

 8   place?
  

 9       A.    It is a tight-knit downtown.  So word gets out
  

02:11:58 10   fast.
  

11       Q.    When you say tight-knit downtown, do you mean
  

12   the community that buys and sells property at foreclosure
  

13   auctions?
  

14       A.    Well, as far as the forging, I found out because
  

02:12:09 15   it was put on the website and a friend of mine told me.
  

16   That was -- I never knew about the forging.
  

17       Q.    Well, what kind of -- what did you know from
  

18   your, from the community at the foreclosure auctions about
  

19   Densco, especially after Mr. Chittick committed suicide?
  

02:12:29 20   What did you hear?
  

21       A.    I heard that he did what he did was because he
  

22   was defrauded a lot of money.
  

23       Q.    And did anyone tell you who was the person that
  

24   defrauded him?
  

02:12:45 25       A.    Yes, Scott Menaged.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  So it was sort of known almost
  

 2   immediately down there what happened?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  And who was telling you this information?
  

02:12:55  5       A.    Co-workers.
  

 6       Q.    Well, who?
  

 7       A.    Names?
  

 8       Q.    Yeah.
  

 9       A.    A friend of mine John, friend of mine Mike.
  

02:13:06 10       Q.    Okay.  And is that John Ray we are talking
  

11   about?
  

12       A.    Yes.
  

13       Q.    And what is Mike's last name?
  

14       A.    Colosimo.
  

02:13:13 15       Q.    And how would they have known about what
  

16   happened with respect to Mr. Menaged being involved in
  

17   defrauding Densco?
  

18       A.    They heard.  I don't know who they heard from,
  

19   they heard.
  

02:13:24 20       Q.    And was it a fairly regular topic of
  

21   conversation in July and August of this year?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    Okay.  I am going to show you what has been
  

24   marked as Exhibit No. 1.
  

02:13:47 25             You testified earlier that you handled certain
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 1   receipts for the initial $10,000 down payment of a
  

 2   foreclosed property, is that right?
  

 3       A.    That's correct.
  

 4       Q.    Is Exhibit No. 1 that type of receipt you are
  

02:14:06  5   talking about or is it a different receipt?
  

 6       A.    It is that type of receipt, yes.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.  So have you ever seen Exhibit No. 1
  

 8   before?
  

 9       A.    No.
  

02:14:14 10       Q.    Okay.  I guess we will just jump to the very
  

11   bottom of it where there is a signature on this document.
  

12   Do you see that?
  

13       A.    Yes, I see that.
  

14       Q.    Is that your signature?
  

02:14:23 15       A.    No.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  How do you know it is not your signature?
  

17       A.    It is -- I don't sign that way, first of all.
  

18   And number two is everybody knows me as Lou downtown.
  

19   They call me Lou, everybody.  But my real name is Luigi.
  

02:14:39 20   And when I sign any document I sign as Luigi Amoroso, not
  

21   Lou.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  Here on Exhibit No. 1 it clearly reads
  

23   Lou Amoroso, is that right?
  

24       A.    Yes.
  

02:14:48 25       Q.    So you are saying that signature, Lou Amoroso,
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 1   is one you don't use, is that right?
  

 2       A.    That's correct.
  

 3       Q.    So you are confident you didn't sign this
  

 4   because not only does it not look like your signature, you
  

02:14:59  5   would never sign something Lou Amoroso, is that right?
  

 6       A.    That's right.
  

 7       Q.    Taking a look at this receipt, have you ever
  

 8   seen one of these receipts before?
  

 9       A.    Yes.  This is a receipt from -- Auction.com
  

02:15:10 10   makes this kind of receipt.
  

11       Q.    So when you say this type of receipt, the
  

12   Exhibit 1 would be the type of receipt you would get if
  

13   you were the successful bidder at an Auction.com sale, is
  

14   that right?
  

02:15:20 15       A.    That's correct.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  This receipt, though, if you look at it,
  

17   indicates that you were the successful bidder on this
  

18   property.  Do you see that?  And it says representative
  

19   information in the middle of Exhibit 1.
  

02:15:33 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    And it is hard to read, but, I have about 20
  

22   more to go through which are better to read, but this one
  

23   has your name.  Right there it says Luigi Amoroso.  Do you
  

24   see that?  It is the middle of the page.
  

02:15:47 25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Then it has a date of birth of 10/8/1960.  Is
  

 2   that your actual date of birth?
  

 3       A.    Yeah, uh-huh.
  

 4       Q.    And then it has driver license ID, which I can't
  

02:15:57  5   read.
  

 6       A.    That looks like an ID of mine.
  

 7       Q.    And then has your e-mail address,
  

 8     Is that one of your e-mail addresses?
  

 9       A.    Yes.
  

02:16:07 10       Q.    And then it has the cell phone number,
  

11   , which I think is the exact same cell phone
  

12   you gave me this morning, is that right?
  

13       A.    Yes.
  

14       Q.    So somebody who has got this has all your
  

02:16:17 15   information; would you say that is true?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  Because they have got your date of birth,
  

18   driver's license number, and your cell phone, and your
  

19   e-mail, is that right?
  

02:16:24 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    Okay.  And then when it says vesting -- look
  

22   below -- it says vesting, record title is shown Arizona
  

23   Home Foreclosures, LLC.  Do you see that?
  

24       A.    I don't see that.
  

02:16:36 25       Q.    Right below the representative information.
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 1       A.    Oh, vesting, yes.
  

 2       Q.    Is that the vesting that you were talking about
  

 3   earlier, the name in which the title owner wanted to take
  

 4   the property?
  

02:16:45  5       A.    That was his new LLC, yes.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  There is some initials after that.  Do
  

 7   you see that?
  

 8       A.    Those are fake.  Those are not mine.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.  How do you know that?
  

02:16:54 10       A.    I don't do that kind of initial.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  When you make initials, what does it look
  

12   like?  Can you give me a representative example?
  

13       A.    Yes.  Something like this.
  

14       Q.    So you have, for the record, you have now
  

02:17:19 15   provided me with a piece of paper, written your initials
  

16   on it.  And would you -- fair to say, in your opinion,
  

17   that your handwriting exemplar with your actual initials
  

18   do not match what appears to be your initials on
  

19   Exhibit No. 1?
  

02:17:36 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    Okay.  I am going to mark this as an exhibit
  

22   before we conclude the examination.  So let's just leave
  

23   it right there.
  

24             Why don't we use the same page, and why don't
  

02:17:46 25   you just provide me with two examples of your signature as
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 1   well.
  

 2             So, Mr. Amoroso, you signed now twice your
  

 3   signature on this document, which we will make an exhibit
  

 4   to the examination.  In fairness, you actually write out,
  

02:18:09  5   I can see from here, you write out the word Luigi when you
  

 6   sign documents, but Exhibit No. 1 has the word Lou, is
  

 7   that right?
  

 8       A.    That's correct.
  

 9       Q.    And you were talking earlier about how you know
  

02:18:18 10   it is not your signature because you don't sign with the
  

11   name Lou, is that right?
  

12       A.    That's right.
  

13       Q.    Okay.  If you take a look at Exhibit 1, though,
  

14   this document indicates that there was a check received
  

02:18:29 15   for $10,000.  Do you see that?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    And then it says amount required 147,309.  That
  

18   would appear to indicate that what needed to be paid was
  

19   the second payment to represent the full purchase price,
  

02:18:45 20   is that right?
  

21       A.    That's right.
  

22       Q.    That's how these sales work.  You put down the
  

23   $10,000 down payment, then you have got to show up with
  

24   the remaining amount of money, is that right?
  

02:18:51 25       A.    Yes.



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

Luigi Amoroso - December 14, 2016 47

  

 1       Q.    You testified that you never go down there and
  

 2   provide the second payment, is that right?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    So for properties purchased by Arizona Home
  

02:19:03  5   Foreclosures, you are not the individual who is then
  

 6   delivering to the trustee this larger check of 147,309, is
  

 7   that right?
  

 8       A.    That's right.
  

 9       Q.    However, this document makes it appear that you
  

02:19:14 10   are, isn't that right?
  

11       A.    Check received, yes.  Yeah, it looks that way,
  

12   yeah.
  

13       Q.    So --
  

14       A.    It seems more like a payment receipt than --
  

02:19:30 15   because the payment receipt is almost similar to
  

16   the -- check received, 137, total received 147.  This
  

17   looks like a payment check.
  

18       Q.    So there is --
  

19       A.    I mean a payment receipt.
  

02:19:43 20       Q.    There is a difference in the two receipts that
  

21   can be generated from a single sale, is that right?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    The first receipt is the one that you would get
  

24   when you have made the initial $10,000 down payment,
  

02:19:53 25   right?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    And then when someone goes down the next day to
  

 3   deliver the full amount, they get a different receipt,
  

 4   right?
  

02:19:59  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    And that receipt you just called the payment
  

 7   receipt, is that right?
  

 8       A.    Uh-huh.
  

 9       Q.    Have you ever, for any clients, ever done this,
  

02:20:07 10   delivered the full proceeds and received a payment receipt
  

11   ever?
  

12       A.    Some clients, yes.
  

13       Q.    So you have some experience in that process as
  

14   well?
  

02:20:15 15       A.    Yes.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  But you have never done it for
  

17   Mr. Menaged?
  

18       A.    Maybe once or twice awhile back ago, but not for
  

19   years.
  

02:20:23 20       Q.    Okay.  When you deliver the final payment and
  

21   get the payment receipt, what information is generally on
  

22   the payment receipt that you are aware of?
  

23       A.    It depends on the, on the auction or the
  

24   trustee.  You know, they are all different.  But I am not
  

02:20:43 25   familiar really with payment receipts because I really
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 1   don't go and pay for properties.  I am not familiar with
  

 2   them.
  

 3       Q.    Okay.  But you have done it a few times?
  

 4       A.    Yes.
  

02:20:50  5       Q.    But you certainly weren't doing it on a regular
  

 6   basis for Mr. Menaged, is that right?
  

 7       A.    With all these years I have been doing it, if I
  

 8   have done it maybe five or six times, that's a lot.
  

 9       Q.    So is it possible, of all the properties you bid
  

02:21:05 10   on, you may have delivered the sales proceeds or the sales
  

11   price money five times?
  

12       A.    Yes.
  

13       Q.    Okay.  And that's out of maybe hundreds --
  

14       A.    Hundreds.
  

02:21:15 15       Q.    -- of bids?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  I will show you what has been marked as
  

18   Exhibit No. 2.  Have you ever seen that document before?
  

19       A.    Not this document, no.
  

02:21:36 20       Q.    Okay.  This purports to be a receipt for a
  

21   purchase for a property by the company Tiffany & Bosco.
  

22   Do you know anything about Tiffany & Bosco?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    Okay.  Are you familiar that they are active in
  

02:21:53 25   the market of being a trustee and liquidating property at
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 1   trustee sales?
  

 2       A.    Yes.
  

 3       Q.    Have you ever bid on a property that was being
  

 4   auctioned by Tiffany & Bosco?
  

02:22:03  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    And have you ever finalized a sale that was sold
  

 7   by a client of Tiffany & Bosco?
  

 8       A.    Yes.
  

 9       Q.    So you have, well, you have been a successful
  

02:22:16 10   bidder at some of those sales, right?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    Have you ever then gone and finalized the
  

13   purchase by delivering the full proceeds?
  

14       A.    Yes.
  

02:22:23 15       Q.    And would you get a receipt from Tiffany & Bosco
  

16   when you would do that?
  

17       A.    Yes.
  

18       Q.    And does that look like the document I am
  

19   looking at here?
  

02:22:30 20       A.    Yes, similar.
  

21       Q.    Okay.  Would it surprise you to learn that this
  

22   property where this purported receipt was from, that the
  

23   property actually never went to foreclosure auction?
  

24   Would that surprise you?
  

02:22:52 25       A.    For what I have been hearing, yes.
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 1       Q.    Because Tiffany & Bosco would never issue a
  

 2   receipt indicating somebody had purchased the property if
  

 3   the property never actually went to sale, would they?
  

 4       A.    That's right.
  

02:23:03  5       Q.    Okay.  I will show you what has been marked as
  

 6   Exhibit No. 3.  Have you ever seen Exhibit No. 3 before?
  

 7       A.    No.
  

 8       Q.    Have you ever seen this type of receipt before?
  

 9       A.    Velocity, yes.
  

02:23:23 10       Q.    What is velocity?
  

11       A.    It is another auction house based out of
  

12   California.
  

13       Q.    So it is another company that participates in
  

14   trustee sales?
  

02:23:34 15       A.    Yes.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  There is a signature at the bottom of
  

17   Exhibit No. 3.  Is that your signature?
  

18       A.    No, it is not.
  

19       Q.    Okay.  How do you know it is not?
  

02:23:42 20       A.    I don't sign Lou Amoroso and it is not my
  

21   handwriting.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  Have you ever finalized and received a
  

23   purchase receipt from a sale that was conducted by
  

24   Velocity?
  

02:23:55 25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  And does this document, the picture of
  

 2   this document, does it look like a real Velocity receipt?
  

 3       A.    Yes, it does.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  But you are pretty confident that you
  

02:24:08  5   weren't involved in this transaction because that
  

 6   certainly is not your signature, is that right?
  

 7       A.    That's right.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  Would it surprise you to learn that this
  

 9   property at 11627 West Holly Street, that the actual
  

02:24:23 10   trustee sale that's purportedly been completed by this
  

11   receipt was actually cancelled before the receipt ever was
  

12   generated?
  

13       A.    No.  Somebody forged my name.
  

14       Q.    So in your mind this looks like a complete fake
  

02:24:40 15   receipt, right?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Let me show you what is marked as Exhibit No. 4.
  

18   Have you ever seen Exhibit No. 4 before?
  

19       A.    No.
  

02:24:53 20       Q.    Okay.  Have you ever -- what -- have you ever
  

21   seen something that looks like this kind of receipt
  

22   before?
  

23       A.    This kind of receipt, yes.
  

24       Q.    And what kind of receipt is this?
  

02:25:02 25       A.    I believe that's another company that is no
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 1   longer in business called LPS.
  

 2       Q.    Okay.  And how do you know that?
  

 3       A.    Because they are no longer in business, they
  

 4   just recently, I think, they -- another company took over
  

02:25:14  5   or they sold it.
  

 6       Q.    There is a signature on this document.  Do you
  

 7   see it?
  

 8       A.    Yes, I see it.
  

 9       Q.    Is that your signature?
  

02:25:22 10       A.    No, it is not.
  

11       Q.    And you know it is not your signature because
  

12   why?
  

13       A.    Because I don't sign that way, and, again, Lou
  

14   Amoroso I don't sign.
  

02:25:29 15       Q.    Okay.  Let me show you what has been marked as
  

16   Exhibit No. 5.  Do you recognize this document?
  

17       A.    I believe that's like an Auction.com, because I
  

18   don't know this document but it is, the format is
  

19   Auction.com.
  

02:25:52 20       Q.    When you say the format, though, when you are
  

21   looking at trustee receipt, you, because of your
  

22   experience in being a bidder, you know which different
  

23   receipts compared to which different companies, is that
  

24   right?
  

02:26:02 25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    When you say different companies, it is the
  

 2   different trustees that are conducting the auctions,
  

 3   right? Well, maybe not the trustees, but the companies
  

 4   that are --
  

02:26:11  5       A.    That represent the trustees, yes, exactly.
  

 6       Q.    Right.  And so, for example, this receipt you
  

 7   said looks like an Auction.com receipt, is that right?
  

 8       A.    Yes, yes.
  

 9       Q.    There is some information on this receipt,
  

02:26:22 10   again, that has your personal identifiers on it.  Do you
  

11   see that in the middle of the page?
  

12       A.    Yes, the initial, which is not mine, and the
  

13   signature, which is not mine.
  

14       Q.    Okay.
  

02:26:37 15       A.    Oh, could I state something?
  

16       Q.    Sure, absolutely.
  

17       A.    You know, I would like to state, I don't know if
  

18   she got on record when we started this, that I am willing
  

19   to take, volunteering to take a lie detector exam to note
  

02:26:51 20   that these, I never signed these documents and I have
  

21   really nothing to do with this Denny and Scott mess.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  I am going to show you what is
  

23   Exhibit No. 6.  Have you ever seen Exhibit 6 before?
  

24       A.    Again, it is a Velocity.  I never seen this
  

02:27:09 25   particular receipt.  I mean I have seen this receipt but
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 1   not this particular.  I don't sign it.  It has my
  

 2   signature again.
  

 3       Q.    So, again, at the bottom of it, bottom of
  

 4   Exhibit No. 6, is your -- is purportedly your signature.
  

02:27:26  5   Do you see that?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7       Q.    And that's not your signature, is that right?
  

 8       A.    No, it is not my signature.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.
  

02:27:30 10       A.    Somebody forged my signature.
  

11       Q.    Okay.
  

12       A.    And this is very disturbing.
  

13       Q.    I will show you what has been marked as
  

14   Exhibit No. 7.  Have you ever seen Exhibit No. 7 before?
  

02:27:48 15       A.    It is a Priority, but I never actually had this
  

16   in my hands, no.
  

17       Q.    When you say it is a Priority, does that mean it
  

18   is a receipt from a company called Priority Posting and
  

19   Publishing?
  

02:28:01 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    Is that a company known to you that participated
  

22   in trustee sales?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    And you have seen priority receipts before in
  

02:28:09 25   the past?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    This document, Exhibit No. 7, has a signature at
  

 3   the bottom.  Is that your signature?
  

 4       A.    No, it is not.
  

02:28:15  5       Q.    Okay.  Again there is some initials on this
  

 6   document in the middle of the page.  Are those your
  

 7   initials?
  

 8       A.    No.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.  Your testimony earlier today was that you
  

02:28:31 10   may have been involved and received what are called
  

11   payment receipts maybe five times from Mr. Menaged's
  

12   company, is that right?
  

13       A.    Explain yourself.
  

14       Q.    You said that there was about maybe five times
  

02:28:47 15   in your whole relationship with Menaged you may have
  

16   actually delivered the final payment check to the trustee
  

17   to get a receipt, right?
  

18       A.    That's correct.
  

19       Q.    Okay.  If I were going to show you one of those
  

02:28:57 20   receipts, you would be able to tell, is that right?
  

21       A.    Yes.
  

22       Q.    You would be able to tell because the signature
  

23   on the receipt would be your actual signature, right?
  

24       A.    Yes.
  

02:29:05 25       Q.    Okay.  So I am showing you all of these receipts
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 1   and you are able to tell me they are not yours because the
  

 2   signatures are not yours, is that right?
  

 3       A.    That's right.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  Let me show you Exhibit No. 8.  Do you
  

02:29:24  5   recognize this document?
  

 6       A.    Did I ever see it before?  No.
  

 7       Q.    Well, you recognize it as another Auction.com --
  

 8       A.    Yes.
  

 9       Q.    -- is that right?
  

02:29:32 10       A.    That is a receipt of Auction.com.  I do
  

11   recognize it.
  

12       Q.    And there are some initials in the middle of the
  

13   page.  Are those your initials?
  

14       A.    No.
  

02:29:37 15       Q.    And then there is a signature at the bottom.  Is
  

16   that your signature?
  

17       A.    No.
  

18       Q.    Show you what has been marked as Exhibit No. 9.
  

19   Have you ever seen this document before?
  

02:29:51 20       A.    It is Auction.com.
  

21       Q.    You say it is Auction.com.  You mean it is an
  

22   Auction.com receipt?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    And you are familiar with the Auction.com
  

02:30:00 25   receipts, is that right?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    Do you know how those receipts are generated?
  

 3   Are they basically printed out on-site after you have been
  

 4   the successful bidder or successful purchaser?
  

02:30:08  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    And so how could somebody get a receipt to do
  

 7   this, to generate one when a sale never happened?  Do you
  

 8   have any idea how that could happen?
  

 9       A.    I don't think that's -- according to what I see,
  

02:30:26 10   I think it is impossible to get a blank receipt.
  

11       Q.    Why do you say that?
  

12       A.    Because they only issue a receipt when you
  

13   purchase a property.  That's it.  You don't get a receipt
  

14   without purchasing a property.
  

02:30:40 15       Q.    Okay.  But when you purchase a real legitimate
  

16   property, you would actually get this document and you
  

17   could literally walk out the door with it, right?
  

18       A.    Yes.
  

19       Q.    Okay.  But when you are actually bidding and
  

02:30:53 20   buying a property, how do they generate this, do you know?
  

21   Do they print it off a computer?
  

22       A.    Let me backtrack a little bit on this.
  

23       Q.    Sure.
  

24       A.    Auction.com, now what they do, they went
  

02:31:07 25   paperless towards the end now.  It has been maybe seven
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 1   months, six months maybe, six.  I think maybe six, five or
  

 2   six months.  Everything is done through a computer now.
  

 3             So they have iPads where the receipt is
  

 4   generated on an iPad.  And you sign it, the iPad.  But
  

02:31:26  5   before, they would actually give you a hard copy, a
  

 6   printout, at the sale itself.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.  There is a signature for someone being
  

 8   purportedly a representative of Auction.com.  Do you see
  

 9   that?
  

02:31:40 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    It says Gladys.  Do you know who that could be?
  

12       A.    Yeah, I know who Gladys is.
  

13       Q.    Who is Gladys?
  

14       A.    She is a manager for Auction.com, I believe,
  

02:31:48 15   manager or head lady down there.
  

16       Q.    Have you ever seen her signature before?
  

17       A.    No.
  

18       Q.    Okay.
  

19       A.    I mean I have seen it.  I never studied it.  I
  

02:31:55 20   mean I got numerous receipts from her, thousands, and, you
  

21   know.  But I never really took a look.
  

22       Q.    If we go back to some of the other Auction.coms,
  

23   you see Gladys is signing all of them just like you are.
  

24   Do you see that?
  

02:32:08 25       A.    Yes.



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

Luigi Amoroso - December 14, 2016 60

  

 1       Q.    Exhibit No. 8 she signed?
  

 2       A.    Right here.
  

 3       Q.    Exhibit No. 5 --
  

 4       A.    Can't even read that one.
  

02:32:15  5       Q.    -- she signs?
  

 6       A.    Uh-huh.
  

 7       Q.    This one on Exhibit No. 4, do you know who this
  

 8   is, Kathy Romer?  Do you know that name?
  

 9       A.    No.
  

02:32:22 10       Q.    Okay.  On Exhibit No. 4, there is a Mark
  

11   something.  Do you see there?  I can't --
  

12       A.    Mark, I don't know that.
  

13       Q.    You don't know that one either?  What about this
  

14   one on Exhibit No. 6?
  

02:32:36 15       A.    Samaria?  I don't know.  I can't read it.
  

16       Q.    But you don't know, other than Gladys, you just
  

17   don't know who some of these folks are?
  

18       A.    No.
  

19       Q.    Let me show you what has been marked as
  

02:32:53 20   Exhibit No. 10.  Do you recognize this document?
  

21       A.    It is a Priority receipt.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  At the bottom is a signature.  Is that
  

23   your signature?
  

24       A.    No, it is not.
  

02:33:05 25       Q.    Do you recognize the signature of this Mark
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 1   Moreno at the bottom?
  

 2       A.    I never heard of Mark Moreno.
  

 3       Q.    Okay.  There are some initials in the middle
  

 4   that appears to be related to you.  Is that your initials?
  

02:33:17  5       A.    No, it is not.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  Showing you what has been marked as
  

 7   Exhibit No. 11, do you recognize this document?
  

 8       A.    It is again another Auction.com receipt.
  

 9       Q.    And it has initials in the middle of the page.
  

02:33:35 10   Are those your initials?
  

11       A.    No, they are not.
  

12       Q.    It has a signature at the bottom of the page.
  

13   Is that your signature?
  

14       A.    No.
  

02:33:40 15       Q.    Okay.  Show you what has been marked as
  

16   Exhibit No. 12.  Do you recognize Exhibit No. 12?
  

17       A.    It is a Velocity receipt.
  

18       Q.    And this one there is a signature at the bottom.
  

19   Is that your signature?
  

02:33:58 20       A.    No, it is not.
  

21       Q.    There is also a signature for a Pamela Smith,
  

22   perhaps.  Do you recognize that name or signature?
  

23       A.    I never met a person -- doesn't recognize -- I
  

24   don't recognize that at all.
  

02:34:10 25       Q.    Okay.  Show you what has been marked as
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 1   Exhibit No. 13.  Do you recognize this document?
  

 2       A.    It is an Auction.com receipt.
  

 3       Q.    There are initials in the middle of the page.
  

 4   Are those your initials?
  

02:34:27  5       A.    No, they are not.
  

 6       Q.    And then there is a signature at the bottom of
  

 7   the page.  Is that your signature?
  

 8       A.    No, it is not.
  

 9       Q.    Have you ever seen an Auction.com receipt with
  

02:34:34 10   this stamp on it before?
  

11             If you look at this exhibit, there is a stamp
  

12   there.  It says Auction.com LLC for Tiffany & Bosco.  Do
  

13   you see that?
  

14       A.    I can't recall.  I know they do sales for
  

02:34:49 15   Tiffany & Bosco.  But I am pretty sure that's probably a
  

16   Tiffany & Bosco sale and they stamp it.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  Well, if this sale is not legitimate, how
  

18   could that stamp have been added there?
  

19       A.    The only thing I can think of is they forged
  

02:35:09 20   these receipts.
  

21       Q.    And they may have had a fake stamp, too?
  

22       A.    No, I think -- I don't know.  I don't know.  But
  

23   they had to wipe everything out.  I don't know.
  

24       Q.    I am going to show you what has been marked as
  

02:35:24 25   Exhibit No. 14.  Do you recognize that?
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 1       A.    It is a Priority receipt.
  

 2       Q.    Okay.  There is a, there is initials in the
  

 3   middle of the page with next to vesting.  Are those your
  

 4   initials?
  

02:35:39  5       A.    No, they are not.
  

 6       Q.    At the bottom of the page there is a signature.
  

 7   Is that your signature?
  

 8       A.    No, it is not.  And this -- what is this name?
  

 9   Mark?
  

02:35:49 10       Q.    Yeah.  There is a name, there is another
  

11   signature on it.  It says received by a Mark Moreno,
  

12   potentially, or Mark Moran.
  

13       A.    I have been in this business a long time.  I
  

14   can't recall a Mark.  I just don't get it.
  

02:36:04 15       Q.    Okay.  Well, he is going to show up on the next
  

16   one, too, Exhibit No. 15.  Do you recognize that document?
  

17       A.    It is a Priority sale also.
  

18       Q.    And there are some initials in the middle of the
  

19   page.  Are those your initials?
  

02:36:16 20       A.    No, they are not.
  

21       Q.    There is a signature at the bottom.  Is that
  

22   your signature?
  

23       A.    No, it is not.
  

24       Q.    You never met a Mr. Moreno.  Well, he is
  

02:36:24 25   certainly signing a bunch of these receiveds, so...
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 1             Next one, Exhibit No. 16.
  

 2       A.    I am trying to recall this Mark Moreno.  Mark,
  

 3   Mark, Mark.  I can't recall, but I don't know.
  

 4       Q.    Take a look at Exhibit No. 16.  Do you recognize
  

02:36:42  5   the document?
  

 6       A.    It is a Priority receipt.
  

 7       Q.    And are those your initials in the middle of the
  

 8   page?
  

 9       A.    No.
  

02:36:49 10       Q.    Is that your signature at the bottom?
  

11       A.    No.
  

12       Q.    Okay.  Show you Exhibit No. 17.  It is a little
  

13   different than the other ones.  This one has the name
  

14   Julia Thomas.  Do you see that in the middle of the page?
  

02:37:08 15       A.    Yes, yes.
  

16       Q.    Is that the other bidder you were talking about?
  

17       A.    Yes.
  

18       Q.    This picture has the signature cut off so we
  

19   can't see it.  But that's who Ms. Thomas is --
  

02:37:18 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    -- your understanding?
  

22             Do you know if Ms. Thomas is still in the
  

23   Phoenix metro area?
  

24       A.    Yes.
  

02:37:30 25       Q.    How do you know that?
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 1       A.    She contacts me occasionally.
  

 2       Q.    Okay.  Is she aware of what is happening with
  

 3   respect to Densco and Menaged issues?
  

 4       A.    I don't know but I am pretty sure she probably
  

02:37:44  5   knows.
  

 6       Q.    I am going to show you what is marked as
  

 7   Exhibit No. 18.  Do you recognize this document?
  

 8       A.    It is an LPS receipt.
  

 9       Q.    And there is a signature at the bottom.  Is that
  

02:37:58 10   your signature?
  

11       A.    No, it is not.
  

12       Q.    I am going to show you Exhibit No. 19.  Do you
  

13   recognize this document?
  

14       A.    It is, I believe it is an LPS, also, receipt.
  

02:38:14 15       Q.    And then there is a signature there at the
  

16   bottom.  Is that your signature?
  

17       A.    No, it is not.
  

18       Q.    Last but not least, Exhibit 20, do you recognize
  

19   this document?
  

02:38:27 20       A.    It is also another LPS receipt.
  

21       Q.    Then there appears to be a signature at the
  

22   bottom.  Is that your signature --
  

23       A.    No, it is not.
  

24       Q.    -- Mr. Amoroso?
  

02:38:36 25       A.    These receipts look like they are payments.
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 1       Q.    Right, these do appear to be all of final
  

 2   payment receipts.  I would agree with you that these are
  

 3   all universally final payment receipts.
  

 4       A.    Yes.
  

02:38:49  5       Q.    And you have talked earlier about what that is.
  

 6   That's basically when someone is delivering the purported
  

 7   final payment to the trustee in order to get the deed, is
  

 8   that right?
  

 9       A.    Yes.
  

02:38:59 10       Q.    And so this document that we are looking at here
  

11   would be evidence to, here, Arizona Home Foreclosures that
  

12   they have actually purchased this property, right?
  

13       A.    Yes.
  

14       Q.    So if something went wrong with the trustee not
  

02:39:13 15   recording the deed or something happening, this would be
  

16   evidence that we actually paid the money so that it can
  

17   record and, you know, we own the property, right?
  

18       A.    Yes.
  

19       Q.    This would be a critical document to be kept by
  

02:39:26 20   Arizona Home Foreclosures because it would provide that
  

21   they paid all this money for this property, right?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    And you would expect these documents would be
  

24   retained by Arizona Home Foreclosures because they are so
  

02:39:38 25   important, is that right?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    I have shown you now 20 images of receipts, is
  

 3   that right?
  

 4       A.    Yes.
  

02:39:43  5       Q.    And all of them, you have testified that they
  

 6   are not your signature, is that right?
  

 7       A.    That's right.
  

 8       Q.    Okay.  However, most of them have very critical
  

 9   personal information of you, of yours on the receipts, is
  

02:39:56 10   that right?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    I think it is safe to assume that somebody at
  

13   Arizona Home Foreclosures created these receipts.  In
  

14   fact, Mr. Menaged testified in his deposition that
  

02:40:08 15   somebody, not him, created these receipts at Arizona Home
  

16   Foreclosures.  Are you aware of that?
  

17       A.    I heard, yes.
  

18       Q.    Do you have any idea who that could have been?
  

19       A.    That created these?
  

02:40:21 20       Q.    Yes.
  

21       A.    Besides someone in that office?  It is either --
  

22       Q.    Well, no.  Actually, the testimony Mr. Menaged
  

23   gave, it was somebody in the office, just not him.  So
  

24   Mr. Menaged says it is not him.  Well, who else could it
  

02:40:33 25   have been if it is not Mr. Menaged?
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 1       A.    Then his secretary.
  

 2       Q.    Then it has to be Ms. Castro?
  

 3       A.    Yeah, maybe.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  And why is it your conclusion that it has
  

02:40:41  5   to be Ms. Castro?
  

 6       A.    She is only one in that office.
  

 7       Q.    So other than Scott, other than Ms. Castro,
  

 8   there is nobody else you are aware that was involved in
  

 9   this business, is that right?
  

02:40:53 10       A.    That's correct.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  The next question is why.  Why would
  

12   Mr. Menaged or Ms. Castro doctor these receipts and put
  

13   your personal information and your signature on all 20 of
  

14   them?
  

02:41:07 15       A.    Because I think, if they are trying to scam
  

16   someone, that he knew of me, I believe, as his bidder, and
  

17   I have been known downtown through everybody, he would
  

18   have to forge my name to make it more believable.
  

19       Q.    So you think that there is some level of
  

02:41:27 20   believability that this may have actually happened because
  

21   your signature is attached to it?
  

22       A.    Yes.  And as far as my license and all that, the
  

23   only thing I can assume is that when they, when I used to
  

24   bring back the original, my receipts, true receipts, they
  

02:41:43 25   would -- where is the -- let's see.  On my original ones
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 1   would have my license and all that stuff where they can
  

 2   take all that information and regenerate it.
  

 3       Q.    So essentially Mr. Menaged, Ms. Castro had your
  

 4   personal information already so they could generate these
  

02:42:10  5   receipts using that information, right?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7       Q.    And they have that information because you had
  

 8   handed them over the years hundreds and hundreds of
  

 9   legitimate receipts when you were actually putting down
  

02:42:21 10   $10,000 on their behalf, right?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    Okay.
  

13             (Exhibit 21 and Exhibit 22 were marked for
  

14   identification.)
  

02:42:43 15   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

16       Q.    I am going to show you what has been marked as
  

17   Exhibit 22.  Do you recognize this document?
  

18       A.    Yes.
  

19       Q.    And what is this?
  

02:42:49 20       A.    This is a deed of release.
  

21       Q.    And this is the document that contains a
  

22   signature line for yourself, is that right?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    And right there in the middle of the page, it
  

02:42:59 25   has signed by Luigi Amoroso.  Do you see that?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    Is that your actual signature?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    And so comparing today the two different
  

02:43:08  5   signatures on the 20 exhibits that are represented
  

 6   fraudulent receipts and the Exhibit No. 22, you are
  

 7   telling us today that Exhibit No. 22 is an example, your
  

 8   actual signature on a actual document that you have
  

 9   signed, right?
  

02:43:21 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  And your testimony is, I assume, that
  

12   they look dramatically different, right?
  

13       A.    Absolutely.
  

14       Q.    Okay.
  

02:43:40 15             (Exhibit 23 was marked for identification.)
  

16   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

17       Q.    Let me show you what has been marked as
  

18   Exhibit No. 23.  Exhibit No. 23 is images of two checks
  

19   that the receiver located that are made payable to you
  

02:43:54 20   from a company called Furniture King, LLC.  Do you see
  

21   that?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    And these checks are, one check is in the amount
  

24   of $30,000 and the other check in the amount of $1,000.
  

02:44:03 25   Do you see that?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    And these checks are made payable to you, is
  

 3   that right?
  

 4       A.    Yes.
  

02:44:08  5       Q.    And who do you know operated a company called
  

 6   Furniture King, LLC?
  

 7       A.    Scott Menaged.
  

 8       Q.    And how do you know that?
  

 9       A.    He told me so.
  

02:44:17 10       Q.    Okay.  Did you ever visit a business location
  

11   with the name Furniture King on it?
  

12       A.    Where I would pick up my checks, yes.
  

13       Q.    So there is a -- you actually went to the retail
  

14   location for Furniture King, right?
  

02:44:29 15       A.    He had offices there.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  How can you -- these are two checks that
  

17   are made out to you on the same day for a total of $30,000
  

18   and then one for $1,000.  Do you see that?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

02:44:42 20       Q.    How do you explain why you would get two checks
  

21   for 31,000 on that day, on April 18th, 2013?
  

22       A.    Okay.  The $30,000, I purchased three homes.
  

23   That's 10,000 each.  The $1,000 is my pay.
  

24       Q.    Right.  So one check is essentially money that
  

02:44:59 25   you get for the services you provided, is that right?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  

 2       Q.    And the other check essentially is reimbursing
  

 3   you for you using your bidder checks on this day to make
  

 4   property purchases for him, is that right?
  

02:45:11  5       A.    That's correct.
  

 6       Q.    Can you take a look at, just pull any one of the
  

 7   20 receipts I have given you in front of you, and take a
  

 8   look at the signature.  Someone signed, someone is writing
  

 9   your name, right, on the check and signing your name, is
  

02:45:24 10   that right?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    Do you see any similarities between the person
  

13   who is signing, writing Luigi Amoroso on the check and
  

14   then signing your name on the various receipts?
  

02:45:36 15       A.    Explain yourself.
  

16       Q.    Well, do the signatures to you look familiar or
  

17   look close?
  

18       A.    Yes.
  

19       Q.    Do you know who signed these two checks on
  

02:45:57 20   Exhibit No. 23?
  

21       A.    Who wrote them?
  

22       Q.    Yeah, who wrote them?
  

23       A.    I believe the secretary wrote these.
  

24       Q.    Okay.  And how do you believe that?
  

02:46:04 25       A.    Because she -- I would just deal with her.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  Did you ever see her actually write out
  

 2   your checks right in front of you?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  So there were times when you saw her
  

02:46:16  5   actually prepare the checks to be handed to you, is that
  

 6   right?
  

 7       A.    Yes.
  

 8       Q.    Did she sign the checks for Mr. Menaged or did
  

 9   she give them to him to sign, do you know?
  

02:46:26 10       A.    I can't recall that.
  

11       Q.    Okay.
  

12       A.    They could have been already signed checks by
  

13   him.  I don't know.
  

14       Q.    Okay.  But you just testified that you saw her
  

02:46:33 15   at times, though, draft the check in front of you.
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  Do you have any specific recollection
  

18   about these two checks in front of you, Exhibit No. 23?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

02:46:42 20       Q.    So do you specifically recall her preparing
  

21   these two for you?
  

22       A.    Yeah, yeah.  I can see this, because the checks
  

23   look like the right checks.
  

24       Q.    Okay.
  

02:46:54 25       A.    And that time period, date, is US Bank we were
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 1   banking with, so yes.
  

 2       Q.    So based on looking at the two checks and
  

 3   looking at the various fake signatures, would your
  

 4   conclusion potentially be that is Ms. Castro is the one
  

02:47:12  5   who is signing for you?
  

 6       A.    It is possible.
  

 7       Q.    Has Ms. Castro ever told you that she did these,
  

 8   signed these fake receipts?
  

 9       A.    No.
  

02:47:19 10       Q.    Have you ever confronted and asked her if she
  

11   did?
  

12       A.    No.
  

13       Q.    Why not?
  

14       A.    I didn't want to get involved.
  

02:47:28 15       Q.    Would you consider yourself involved at this
  

16   point, Mr. Amoroso?
  

17       A.    Yes, I guess so.
  

18       Q.    After Mr. Chittick committed suicide, did you
  

19   have any conversations with Ms. Castro or Mr. Menaged?
  

02:47:48 20       A.    Ms. Castro texted me.
  

21       Q.    She texted you after his death?
  

22       A.    About, I believe, it is possible maybe three or
  

23   four days later.  It was later, yes.
  

24             (Exhibit 24 was marked for identification.)
  

02:48:08 25   BY MR. ANDERSON:
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 1       Q.    I am going to show you what has been marked as
  

 2   Exhibit No. 24.
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    What is this?
  

02:48:13  5       A.    Text messages.
  

 6       Q.    Text messages between you and who?
  

 7       A.    Ms. Castro, Veronica.
  

 8       Q.    And how do you know it is a text message between
  

 9   you and Ms. Castro?
  

02:48:22 10       A.    Because I know.  It is her name and I know her
  

11   number.
  

12       Q.    In fact, these are text images that you provided
  

13   to the receiver, is that right?
  

14       A.    Yes.
  

02:48:32 15       Q.    That you actually gave us these documents that
  

16   represent your text exchanges, is that right?
  

17       A.    Yes.
  

18       Q.    Okay.  And why did you provide this information
  

19   to the receiver?
  

02:48:43 20       A.    Because I want to clear my name from this.  I
  

21   have nothing to do with this.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  Do you have any specific recollection of
  

23   what happened on August 2nd and various text messages
  

24   between you and Ms. Castro on that day?
  

02:49:02 25       A.    She asked, she asked me about Denny, did you
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 1   hear about Denny.  And I said yes.
  

 2       Q.    And then this document here essentially was text
  

 3   messages that happened that day?
  

 4       A.    Yes.
  

02:49:21  5       Q.    Okay.
  

 6             (Exhibit 25 was marked for identification.)
  

 7   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

 8       Q.    Mr. Menaged testified in his deposition that you
  

 9   and he had a falling out sometime in the summer of 2016.
  

02:49:40 10   Is that true?
  

11       A.    Could I explain?
  

12       Q.    Absolutely.
  

13       A.    All right.  Me and Mr. Menaged had a falling out
  

14   way before 2016.  I mean, yeah, me and Mr. Menaged had a
  

02:49:54 15   falling out.
  

16             Mr. Menaged was a hard-working, hard-driven
  

17   person.  I believe a lot of problems started when he
  

18   started courting this woman, which is his wife today,
  

19   about four or five years ago.
  

02:50:18 20             Mr. Menaged, when he broke off with EZ Homes, he
  

21   was a good guy.  He was a friend of mine.  I praised him.
  

22   I looked up to the man.  I thought he was a genius person,
  

23   really smart, put 15 hours a day at work.  He made a lot
  

24   of money with EZ Homes, a lot of money.  And he had fancy
  

02:50:40 25   cars but he lived simple.  I mean he had a nice little
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 1   home, a modest home.
  

 2             He met this woman, Fran.  He lost his mind.  Our
  

 3   friendship -- and, you know, the employees knew that I got
  

 4   bitter, and I'm still bitter about it, still bitter.  He
  

02:51:02  5   would call up before this, before he met this woman, you
  

 6   know, Lou, how is your family.  He was friendly.  I am
  

 7   saying, you know, he was a great guy.  Once he met this
  

 8   woman, honest to God, he turned.  He, like a light switch,
  

 9   never called me again.  The only conversations we had were
  

02:51:22 10   strictly business, like working, working relations, oh,
  

11   this house is up for sale, what do you want to do.  That's
  

12   it, no more phone -- never got a phone call from him.
  

13             Four years, the fallout has been a long time.  I
  

14   just continued to work for him.  But the fallout was a
  

02:51:38 15   long time ago, because I seen -- I said to myself this is
  

16   not a friend.  How do you just turn off a friendship like
  

17   a light switch?  It is impossible.  Something is wrong.
  

18   And I realize, I come to the conclusion I was a tool for
  

19   him.  That's all I was, a tool.  That's all I was.
  

02:51:55 20             The fallout, then, I believe the straw that
  

21   broke the camel's back, was when I found out about Denny.
  

22   And the secretary texted me.  And as I stated in this,
  

23   that if it is true, I don't want anything -- I never want
  

24   to see him or ever talk to him again.  And I never -- I
  

02:52:24 25   didn't have communications with him.
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 1             In fact, I accidentally, and in the text you can
  

 2   see, I accidentally, that's right here, I accidentally
  

 3   texted him.  Let's see where it is.
  

 4       Q.    This is on Exhibit No. 25?
  

02:52:39  5       A.    Yes, yes.  I accidently -- I was texting someone
  

 6   else.  And I was copying and pasting this to someone else.
  

 7   So as I was speaking to someone else, I accidentally
  

 8   texted him instead of the other person.  And I actually
  

 9   said last I spoke with his secretary I refuse to speak to
  

02:52:57 10   him.  And then he text me what you see -- what you
  

11   reading, and which I text him this part.
  

12             He texted me, he texted me on August 2nd:
  

13             Friends are supposed to stick together, not
  

14   listen to bullshit rumors.  When the truth comes out one
  

02:53:17 15   day you will feel bad you did not stick with me and
  

16   believe in me.
  

17       Q.    So let's just make sure we get this clear,
  

18   because it is sort of convoluted.  You are actually
  

19   texting with Veronica Castro on August 2nd?
  

02:53:30 20       A.    Yes.
  

21       Q.    At around 7:00, between 7:00 p.m. and nearly
  

22   10:00 p.m. --
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    -- is that right?
  

02:53:38 25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And all those texts you provided to us, they are
  

 2   in Exhibit No. 24, is that right?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    So out of the blue, at 10:17 on the same day,
  

02:53:49  5   August 2nd, you get a text from Mr. Menaged, is that
  

 6   right?
  

 7       A.    Yes.
  

 8       Q.    And that's what is set forth here on Exhibit
  

 9   No. 25, is that right?
  

02:53:56 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    Now, this text, this first part here that you
  

12   just read, was that the first communication you had from
  

13   Scott in awhile?
  

14       A.    Yes.
  

02:54:04 15       Q.    Okay.  How long?  I mean, weeks?
  

16       A.    No, no, no.  We have to go back a little bit on
  

17   this.  Towards, I think it was, January or February he
  

18   calls me in his offices.  I don't know exactly when.  It
  

19   could have been March.  I don't know.  I am bad with
  

02:54:24 20   dates.  But he calls me in his office.  And he said to me,
  

21   Lou, I'm no longer buying homes and I am not going to need
  

22   your services anymore.  I says fine.  He says but I know
  

23   you a long time and, if you want, you can be a salesman
  

24   in one of my stores, a furniture salesman.  I says you
  

02:54:50 25   know what, Scott, thank you, but no thank you, I have
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 1   a lot of clients, I have a few clients, I can still work
  

 2   downtown, I don't want to be a salesman.  And I went off.
  

 3   And this is about eight months ago.
  

 4             And then we spoke again.  I went to visit him a
  

02:55:08  5   few times within a month.  First time he like ignoring me,
  

 6   he ignores me.  I said what is going on, talked to him a
  

 7   little bit.  He is always busy, always busy, always
  

 8   something in his mind.  And I went another time.  And he
  

 9   was like busy.  I said why am I wasting my time.  And I
  

02:55:31 10   decided not to see him no more.  So I didn't communicate
  

11   with him maybe six months.
  

12       Q.    Okay.
  

13       A.    I believe this text that came in at 10:17 and
  

14   the last text I had with Veronica at, okay, take care,
  

02:55:46 15   Lou, at 9:39, I believe Veronica and Scott were in
  

16   communications and that's when he texted me this.
  

17       Q.    Well, actually, if look at the document you
  

18   provided us, which is now Exhibit No. 24, you actually get
  

19   a text message at 10:07 that reads you know Scott, he's
  

02:56:09 20   not a bad person, he has a huge heart and he is dealing
  

21   with this too, he's so hurt, he was Denny's friend, and
  

22   these rumors are killing him, right?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    That's actually a message you get at 10:07 on
  

02:56:23 25   August 2nd, is that right?
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 1       A.    Yes, that's correct.
  

 2       Q.    And then we get the text message from Scott at
  

 3   10:17, which would be basically 10 minutes later, right?
  

 4       A.    Yes.
  

02:56:30  5       Q.    So back to the text message that starts with
  

 6   friends are supposed to stick together, is this text the
  

 7   first you received from him in months?
  

 8       A.    Yes.
  

 9       Q.    And why do you think he sent you that text
  

02:56:43 10   message?
  

11       A.    Because I think what I said to Veronica, that I
  

12   don't want to talk to him or ever hear of him again or see
  

13   him again.
  

14       Q.    So you think it is possible Veronica was sharing
  

02:56:55 15   your communications with her boss, Mr. Menaged?
  

16       A.    That's correct.
  

17       Q.    Okay.  Out of the blue you get this text message
  

18   from Scott, is that right?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

02:57:05 20       Q.    Okay.  That's on August 2nd, correct?
  

21       A.    Yes.
  

22       Q.    And you are now looking at Exhibit No. 25?
  

23       A.    Yes.
  

24       Q.    Do you respond immediately to that text?
  

02:57:13 25       A.    No.  I don't respond at all.
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 1       Q.    You don't respond at all; in fact, it is almost
  

 2   12 days later that there is a response --
  

 3       A.    That's right.
  

 4       Q.    -- isn't it?
  

02:57:21  5       A.    But it is an accident response.
  

 6       Q.    I understand.  But by accident, you are
  

 7   mistakenly cutting and pasting to someone else and you
  

 8   text Mr. Menaged back, is that right?
  

 9       A.    Yes.
  

02:57:30 10       Q.    Does he respond to you immediately?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    Okay.  So a minute later what does he write?
  

13       A.    He says:  What?  Who you telling that to?
  

14       Q.    So essentially he is responding to what is a
  

02:57:43 15   mistaken text, right?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Because the mistaken text says that you spoke
  

18   with his secretary and you refused to speak to him --
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

02:57:50 20       Q.    -- right?  And then did you respond to him at
  

21   that point?
  

22       A.    I kind of said -- oh, yeah.  I am kind of
  

23   getting hit by everybody, I wish I could disappear.  Like
  

24   everybody knows I work for Scott and everybody is
  

02:58:11 25   questioning me.  So it is like I felt like bad, you know,
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 1   and, you know, I am getting drawn in the middle of
  

 2   something that I have nothing to do with.
  

 3       Q.    And then there is a final text message from
  

 4   5:15.  Do you see that?
  

02:58:22  5       A.    Yes.
  

 6       Q.    What does that say?
  

 7       A.    He says:  Goodbye Lou.  Same bullshit.  Blocking
  

 8   you now so no need to respond.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.  So essentially is that the last message
  

02:58:32 10   you have gotten from Scott until, I mean, as of this day?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    Okay.  When you are exchanging these text
  

13   messages in August, did you have any idea that your
  

14   signature was on literally maybe even a thousand of these
  

02:58:52 15   fraudulent receipts?
  

16       A.    No.
  

17       Q.    So at the time that you had made this decision
  

18   to sort of cut ties with Mr. Menaged because, because he
  

19   had changed, you had no idea that maybe -- that he had
  

02:59:05 20   essentially put you at the center of this enormous fraud
  

21   scheme, is that right?
  

22       A.    That's right.
  

23       Q.    All right.
  

24       A.    And could I just elaborate on something that I
  

02:59:16 25   didn't finish?
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 1       Q.    Sure.
  

 2       A.    When he met this woman, he just, he went
  

 3   overboard, never working anymore.  He went to the other
  

 4   extreme, no more work, concentrating on buying all kinds
  

02:59:30  5   of crazy gifts.  And I even texted Veronica, if you will
  

 6   read it on the text, where it says this guy lost his mind
  

 7   since he met this woman.  He was buying her fancy cars.
  

 8   He even bought, he bought a $3 million home where he lives
  

 9   in now.  He bought another home to make his wife happy,
  

02:59:52 10   $2 million.  Where is this guy getting his money from?
  

11   But I thought the furniture businesses were doing well.
  

12   And he changed, Vegas trips like every -- they were
  

13   constantly going away somewhere where.  It was just crazy.
  

14             (Exhibit 26 was marked for identification.)
  

03:00:21 15   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

16       Q.    Let me show you what is marked as Exhibit
  

17   No. 26.  What is Exhibit No. 26?
  

18       A.    It is a texting between myself and Veronica
  

19   Castro.
  

03:00:30 20       Q.    And how -- it says yesterday at 8:33 p.m.  Were
  

21   these texts very recent?
  

22       A.    Yes.
  

23       Q.    I mean, was it like last week?
  

24       A.    Yes.
  

03:00:41 25       Q.    Would it be fair to say that she texted you and
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 1   asked you if you had your deposition?
  

 2       A.    Yes.
  

 3       Q.    Okay.  Why is she asking you if you have had
  

 4   your deposition, do you know?
  

03:00:49  5       A.    She wants to know information.
  

 6       Q.    Okay.  And this essentially is your exchange
  

 7   with her?
  

 8       A.    Yes.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.
  

03:00:58 10       A.    Excuse me.
  

11       Q.    Yeah.
  

12       A.    I just want to go back to the other conversation
  

13   where we had with the August 2nd.  I don't know which
  

14   exhibit that was.  But I believe she was told from him to
  

03:01:13 15   communicate with me about Denny, what happened to Denny.
  

16       Q.    Okay.  You think that Scott may have put her up
  

17   to sort of reaching out to you to find out what
  

18   information you had?
  

19       A.    Yes.
  

03:01:24 20       Q.    And why do you think that?
  

21       A.    I just, for her to just text me out of the blue,
  

22   it is -- I find it odd.
  

23       Q.    Okay.  Suspicious to you?
  

24       A.    Yes.
  

03:01:34 25       Q.    And, here again, a couple days ago she is
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 1   texting you to find out what you think is -- information
  

 2   about what is going on?
  

 3       A.    Yes.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  You told her that there is hundreds of
  

03:01:45  5   fake receipts which Scott forged my name, is that what you
  

 6   wrote her?
  

 7       A.    Yes.
  

 8       Q.    I am sick to my stomach he dragged me into
  

 9   something I didn't do.  Okay.  And that's your text?
  

03:01:55 10       A.    Yes.
  

11       Q.    And then she responded, just be honest and say
  

12   you don't know shit about them?
  

13       A.    Yes.
  

14       Q.    How does she know that you don't know anything
  

03:02:02 15   about them?
  

16       A.    Because she knows I am innocent.  She knows I
  

17   didn't do this.
  

18       Q.    Okay.  You mentioned your son, Charlie.  What is
  

19   the, what is the reference there here in this text
  

03:02:14 20   message?
  

21       A.    All right.  I don't really want to go into that.
  

22       Q.    You don't have to if you don't want to.  I
  

23   mean --
  

24       A.    You brought it up.
  

03:02:24 25       Q.    I see it here, and I think it is going to get --



Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com

Luigi Amoroso - December 14, 2016 87

  

 1   you know.
  

 2       A.    No, no.  My son, you know, I told her, I says I
  

 3   want to scream and cry.  He knows the miserable and
  

 4   hardship life I live with my son, Charlie, day in and day
  

03:02:37  5   out.  And he drags me into his mess of shit.  Why didn't
  

 6   he say the truth?  The signatures are not even mine.
  

 7             My son, Charlie, is 29 years old.
  

 8       Q.    If you need a break, Mr. Amoroso, we can take a
  

 9   break.
  

03:02:58 10       A.    He is really handicapped.  Me and my wife cater
  

11   to him day in and day out, feed him, bathe him, change
  

12   him.  And this pig drags me into this mess.
  

13             It is, Charlie, he is my angel.  And I would
  

14   never do anything to jeopardize my life because he needs
  

03:03:24 15   me to the end of my days.  And like I explain to you the
  

16   last time, I hope as we get old and I can live that old,
  

17   he dies before me because I want peace in my life.
  

18       Q.    So essentially Mr. Menaged knew that personal
  

19   part of your life but did not care enough to not
  

03:03:49 20   essentially involve you in his scams?
  

21       A.    He doesn't care about anything.
  

22       Q.    Okay.  Have you had any communication from
  

23   Veronica since this series of text messages a few days
  

24   ago?
  

03:04:04 25       A.    No.
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 1             MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Why don't we take a break
  

 2   here.  We will go off the record.
  

 3             (A recess ensued from 3:04 p.m. to 3:12 p.m.)
  

 4   BY MR. ANDERSON:
  

03:12:54  5       Q.    We will go back on the record.
  

 6             Mr. Amoroso, I have a couple questions about
  

 7   sort of your understanding of what Mr. Menaged's current
  

 8   business activities are.  Are you aware that even as late
  

 9   as September, October or November of 2016 that Mr. Menaged
  

03:13:11 10   was still buying properties at foreclosure auctions?
  

11       A.    Yes.
  

12       Q.    And how were you aware of that?
  

13       A.    Veronica would come down and do the bidding.
  

14       Q.    And so you actually see her at the courthouse
  

03:13:21 15   making bids?
  

16       A.    Yes.
  

17       Q.    Was she a rookie bidder?
  

18       A.    Yes.
  

19       Q.    Okay.  And so how did she learn the ropes to
  

03:13:27 20   bid?
  

21       A.    She would come to me and ask me questions and I
  

22   would help her.
  

23       Q.    So some of those might have been when do I bid
  

24   and when does my house come up for sale?
  

03:13:37 25       A.    No.  She knew how to bid.  She just would ask
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 1   who would have this property.  And I kind of guide, okay,
  

 2   this person is selling this property, that person would be
  

 3   selling that property.
  

 4       Q.    Okay.  Did you know when she was down there that
  

03:13:49  5   she was bidding for Mr. Menaged?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7       Q.    Okay.  And how do you know that?
  

 8       A.    Because she works with him.
  

 9       Q.    Okay.  Are you aware that he may have stopped
  

03:13:59 10   bidding at auctions recently?
  

11       A.    Yes.  She hasn't been down there, so I am aware
  

12   they stopped buying.
  

13       Q.    Do you know why they stopped buying?
  

14       A.    No.
  

03:14:09 15       Q.    Okay.  Is there a rumor why?  Is there talking
  

16   about it downtown?
  

17       A.    The rumor I heard would be -- what was the
  

18   rumor -- oh, bankruptcy lawyer must have told him not to
  

19   bid.  That's what I heard.
  

03:14:21 20       Q.    Okay.  Did Scott ever talk to you about having
  

21   property or assets outside of Arizona?
  

22       A.    I never believed him.  He said -- when he got
  

23   married, we were -- he took us all, his family, to the
  

24   wedding.  He got married in New York.  And we happened to
  

03:14:46 25   be in Manhattan.  And he pointed to this building on Fifth
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 1   Avenue by Central Park.  And he said, Lou, you see those
  

 2   two windows up there.  And I am looking.  I say yeah.  He
  

 3   goes I own that.  And I am saying you don't own that; if
  

 4   you owned that you wouldn't be living in Arizona, you
  

03:15:03  5   would be living in New York.
  

 6             I don't believe that.  I don't believe he owned
  

 7   anything outside of Arizona.
  

 8       Q.    But he told you in your presence that he did own
  

 9   a couple apartments in New York?
  

03:15:13 10       A.    Yeah.
  

11       Q.    Okay.  So you attended his wedding?
  

12       A.    Yes.
  

13       Q.    And when was that?
  

14       A.    I don't know, to be honest with you.  Maybe
  

03:15:28 15   2013.  I am not sure --
  

16       Q.    Okay.
  

17       A.    -- on the date.
  

18             MR. ANDERSON:  All right.  That is all the
  

19   questions I have.  So if there is any questions that
  

03:15:38 20   Mr. Nemecek may have, I will pass the witness to him.
  

21
  

22                          EXAMINATION
  

23   BY MR. NEMECEK:
  

24       Q.    You mentioned that Scott used another LLC right
  

03:15:52 25   toward the beginning of the deposition today.  And you
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 1   couldn't remember the name.  Do you --
  

 2       A.    It came up on one of those fake, it came up on
  

 3   one of those fake receipts, Arizona Home Foreclosures.
  

 4       Q.    That was the name of the LLC you were trying to
  

03:16:15  5   think of?
  

 6       A.    Yes.
  

 7             MR. NEMECEK:  Okay.  That's all I have.
  

 8             MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Did the name of the driver
  

 9   come back to you?
  

03:16:25 10             THE WITNESS:  Kelly Griffin.
  

11             MR. ANDERSON:  There we go.  All right.  So it
  

12   always does.
  

13             Okay.  That will conclude your examination.  She
  

14   will give you an opportunity to read and sign your
  

03:16:35 15   transcript.  You can make that election now.  She
  

16   basically can --
  

17             THE WITNESS:  I will sign it.  I ain't going to
  

18   be able to read all that.
  

19             MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  All right.  You can work
  

03:16:45 20   that out with the court reporter.  And that will conclude
  

21   the exam.  Thanks.
  

22             (An off-the-record discussion ensued.)
  

23             MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We just, we were talking
  

24   to the court reporter.  So you want to waive the read and
  

03:17:15 25   signing of the transcript today?
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   1             THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

 2             MR. ANDERSON:  That will complete the exam.
  

 3             (The deposition concluded at 3:16 p.m.)
  

 4
  

 5                          (Signature Waived.)
                   ____________________________________

 6                            LUIGI AMOROSO
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   1   STATE OF ARIZONA    )
   COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )

 2
             BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were

 3   taken before me; that the witness before testifying was
   duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the

 4   foregoing pages are a full, true, and accurate record of
   the proceedings all done to the best of my skill and

 5   ability; that the proceedings were taken down by me in
   shorthand and thereafter reduced to print under my

 6   direction.
  

 7
             I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of

 8   the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the
   outcome hereof.

 9
              [ ] Review and signature was requested.

10              [X] Review and signature was waived.
              [ ] Review and signature was not required.

11
             I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical

12   obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and ACJA 7-206
   (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).  Dated at Phoenix, Arizona,

13   this 22nd day of December, 2016.
  

14
  

15
           _______________________________________

16                     Colette E. Ross
                    Certified Reporter

17                   Arizona CR No. 50658
  

18             I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has complied
   with the ethical obligations set forth in

19   ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
  

20
  

21
  

22
  

23
            _______________________________________

24                      COASH & COASH, INC.
                   Registered Reporting Firm

25                     Arizona RRF No. R1036
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